RECEIVED

APR 15 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-CP-28-00123  
Appellant Case No. 2025-001848

Mary Dow Jackson, Individually and as Personal Representative of  
the Estate of Gordon Louis Jackson, Melissa Jackson, Tyre Jackson,  
Reginald Allen, Bryant Allen, Andre Allen, and Timothy Johnson, ..... Appellants,

v.

The Estate of Claude E. Campbell, by and through Sonja Campbell  
Parker and Barry Campbell, Thomas Clayter Campbell, Jr. as Personal  
Representative and Trustee for the Estate and Testamentary Trust of

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGEMENT WAS NOT PREMATURE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING APPELLANTS' CAUSE OF ACTION FOR CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST FAILED ON ITS ELEMENTS?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING APPELLANTS' CAUSE OF ACTION FOR UNJUST ENRICHMENT FAILED ON ITS ELEMENTS?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANTS' DECLARATORY JUDGMENT CLAIM?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING APPELLANTS' CAUSES OF ACTION WERE UNTIMELY BASED UPON THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 16, 2023, Appellants brought this action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas alleging causes of action against the Respondents for Declaratory Judgment, Constructive Trust, and Unjust Enrichment (R. pp. 240-247). On February 21, 2024, venue in this matter was changed to Kershaw County. On June 12, 2025, Respondents moved for summary judgment (R. pp. 72-82) as to all causes of action. This motion was heard by the Honorable Daniel Coble on July 17, 2025, and was granted in favor of Respondents on July 29, 2025 (R. pp. 10-13). Appellants moved for reconsideration on August 8, 2025 (R. pp. 28-35), and this motion was denied by the court on August 13, 2025 (R. pp. 1-3). On September 11, 2025, Appellants served the Notice of Appeal on the Respondents (R. pp. 26-27).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In reviewing the granting of a summary judgment motion, the Court applies the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP: "summary judgment is proper when 'there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.'" In determining whether summary judgment is appropriate, the evidence and its reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and must not be granted until the opposing party has had

a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433 (2003).

### FACTS

Appellants include the personal representative of the Estate of Gordon Louis Jackson (“Jackson”), and his heirs at law. Appellants allege Jackson was a natural child of Thomas Edward Campbell (“T.E. Campbell”), who died intestate on June 12, 1982, in Kershaw County, South Carolina. At the time of T.E. Campbell’s death, his estate consisted of numerous parcels of land, monies, and other personal property. Jackson was excluded from T.E. Campbell’s estate when it was probated. Respondents in this matter are the intestate heirs of T.E. Campbell who were not excluded from the estate and received distributions from the estate. Appellants brought equitable causes of action against respondents for declaratory judgment (R. pp. 244-245), constructive trust (R. pp. 245-246), and unjust enrichment (R. pp. 246-247). Appellants asked the court to make a determination that Jackson was a natural child and heir of T.E. Campbell and that Jackson, and his heirs were wrongfully excluded from T.E. Campbell’s estate.

### ARGUMENTS

#### I. RESPONDENTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PREMATURE AND SHOULD HAVE BEEN DENIED.

Respondents’ motion for summary judgment (R. pp. 72-82) was premature as discovery was still ongoing at the time the motion was heard. The procedural history of this case shows the original complaint that was filed in 2023 (R. pp. 240-247). Respondents filed a motion to dismiss the complaint (R. pp. 222-231), and this motion was denied in May of 2024 (R. pp. 20-22). Respondents failed to timely file an answer following the denial of the motion to dismiss and were in default until December 11, 2024 (R. pp. 196-214), when the trial court granted Respondents’ motion to set aside the default (R. pp. 14-16). At the time of the hearing, the parties had exchanged written discovery, and depositions were actively being scheduled and conducted. Additionally,

Appellants had submitted DNA samples for testing that were currently pending results. See Affidavits (R. pp. 52-63; 70-71; 36-40). The Respondents filed a motion for summary judgment (R. pp. 72-82) based upon testimony given in the *only* deposition taken in the matter. The parties had identified numerous witnesses in discovery that needed to be deposed. It was improper at that moment in discovery to proceed with a motion for summary judgment (R. pp. 72-82). Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003). The nonmoving party must demonstrate the likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional relevant evidence and that the party is “not merely engaged in a ‘fishing expedition.’ ” Id. Further discovery in this matter will definitely uncover additional relevant evidence in this matter.

Respondents stated, “No birth certificate, testamentary documents, other papers, or paternity tests assert that T.E. Campbell is Gordon Jackson’s biological father.” However, factual statements of the attorneys, whether made during argument or in written briefs or memoranda, may not be considered by the court in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists. Higgins v. Med. Univ. of S.C., 326 S.C. 592, 599, 486 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1997). There was evidence in the record as to Gordon Jackson’s paternity, and Appellants anticipated further evidence to be provided. Mary Jackson, the wife of Gordon Jackson, has given deposition testimony (R. pp. 83-147) in this matter. She testified:

Q: Okay. What is your understanding of who Gordon Louis Jackson’s dad was?

A: Because Tommy Edward Campbell said so.

Q: I understand that’s why you think that. But you think –Thomas Edward Campbell? Is that what you’re trying to say?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. All right. And you’re referring to Thomas Edward Campbell who’s been deceased since 1982?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you know Thomas Edward Campbell?

A: I met him several times.

Q: Okay. And so let me ask the question you've been trying to answer. On what basis do you claim that Gordon Louis Jackson is the biological son of Thomas Edward Campbell?

A: Because Mr. Thomas Edward Campbell said so.

(R. p.104, 19-25; p. 105, 1-10)

Q: Okay. What damages are you seeking in this lawsuit?

A: Whatever belongs to my husband as a rightful heir to the Campbell estate.

Q: Do you believe your husband is a rightful heir to the Campbell estate?

A: His father said that was his son.

(R. p. 121, 22-25; p. 122, 1-3)

Respondents Reginald Allen and Andre Allen submitted affidavits (R. pp. 52-53; pp.58-60) stating they referred to Thomas Edward Campbell's son, Claude Campbell, as "Uncle Claude." See Affidavits of Reginald Allen and Andre Allen (R. pp. 52-53; 58-60). These Respondents also had pending DNA tests at the time of the summary judgment hearing. These results have since been received and there is a 99.8829% probability Andre Allen is related to Thomas Edward Campbell. There is a 99.9162% probability Reginald Allen is related to Thomas Edward Campbell.

## II. APPELLANTS' CAUSES OF ACTION FOR UNJUST ENRICHMENT DOES NOT FAIL ON ITS ELEMENTS.

Respondents incorrectly state the elements of a claim for unjust enrichment. A party may be unjustly enriched when it has and retains benefits or money which in justice and equity belong to another. Unjust enrichment is an equitable doctrine which permits the recovery of that amount the defendant has been unjustly enriched at the expense of the plaintiff. Dema v. Tenet Physician Services-Hilton Head, Inc., 383 S.C. 115, 678 S.E.2d 430 (2009). The trial court held Appellants produced no evidence they conferred any benefit on the Respondents. Appellants' contention is they were deprived of their inheritance from the estate. Respondents received all the benefit from the estate as the Appellants were excluded. Following the holding in Dema, in

this case, the Defendants receive a benefit, a distribution from the estate, and deprive the Plaintiffs of any recovery. Thus, the benefits received by the Defendants were at the expense of the Plaintiffs.

Respondents argued Appellants' claims for constructive trust (R. pp. 245-246) failed "because there is no evidence of fraud, bad faith, abuse of confidence, or violation of a fiduciary duty." None of the named Respondents had been deposed in the matter. As stated earlier, discovery was still ongoing in the matter and Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment was premature (R. pp. 72-82). Further discovery in this matter was needed.

### III. APPELLANTS' CAUSE OF ACTION FOR CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST DOES NOT FAIL ON ITS ELEMENTS.

Constructive trust arises entirely by the operation of law without reference to any actual or supposed intention to create a trust. It is resorted to in equity, to vindicate right and justice or to frustrate fraud. A constructive trust will arise whenever circumstances under which property is acquired make it inequitable that property should be retained by him who holds legal title. Whitmire v. Adams, 273 S.C. 453, 257 S.E.2d 160 (1979).

The trial court held that the Appellants had not identified any evidence of fraud, bad faith, abuse of confidence, or a fiduciary relationship, which are necessary to support the imposition of a constructive trust.

The trial court held the failure of Appellants to prevail on their claims of unjust enrichment (R. pp. 246-247) and constructive (R. pp. 245-246) rendered their declaratory judgment claim (R. pp. 244-245) moot as there is no legal proceeding in which this declaration would have practical effect.

#### IV. APPELLANTS' DECLARATORY JUDGMENT CAUSE OF ACTION WAS IMPROPERLY DISMISSED

Any person interested as or through an executor, administrator, trustee, guardian or other fiduciary, creditor, devisee, legatee, heir, next of kin or cestui que trust in the administration of a trust or of the estate of a decedent, infant, lunatic or insolvent may have a declaration of rights or legal relations in respect thereto:

- (1) To ascertain any class of creditors, devisees, legatees, heirs, next of kin or others;
- (2) To direct the executors, administrators, or trustees to do or abstain from doing any particular act in their fiduciary capacity; or
- (3) To determine any question arising in the administration of the estate or trust, including questions of construction of wills and other writings.

See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-50. Before any action can be maintained, there must exist a justiciable controversy. Wilson v. Dallas, 743 S.E.2d 746 (S.C. 2013). A "justiciable" controversy exists when there is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute that is contingent, hypothetical, or abstract. Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc., 630 S.E.2d 474 (S.C. 2006).

Appellants are making claims similar to those made in Pinckney v. Warren, 344 S.C. 382, 544 S.E.2d 620 (2001). In that matter, Scrappy Pinckney was born on April 19, 1927, and was the son of James Leonard Pinckney. In 1954, James Leonard Pinckney died intestate and left an estate that included approximately ten acres of land. In 1975, Scrappy Pinckney sold his partial interest in the property to D&S Development ("D&S"). On October 25, 1989, the Collins family, heirs of the original owner of the property, filed a declaratory judgment action in Charleston County to quiet title to real property, obtain a decree establishing the family history of Lark Collins, identify the owners of the property, and determine each owner's interest in the property. On October 26, 1989, the Collins family filed an identical action in Berkely County. Both Complaints allege the

conveyance to D&S was ineffective because Scrappy Pinckney was illegitimate, and therefore, not an heir at law of James Leonard Pinckney. The two actions were consolidated and referred to the Honorable Louis E. Condon, the Master-in-Equity for Charleston County, for entry of a final order with direct appeal to this Court. Both Complaints allege the conveyance to D&S was ineffective because Scrappy Pinckney was illegitimate, and, therefore, not an heir at law of James Leonard Pinckney.

In 1991, the Master-in-Equity established Scrappy Pinckney was a lineal descendant of the original owner of the property. In 1999, the matter was tried by the Master-in-Equity who found Scrappy Pinckney's interest in the property was invalid and he was not an heir at law of the original owner as he was an illegitimate child. If there is a justiciable controversy arising from a transfer of property in 1975 that was inherited in 1954, then surely there is a justiciable controversy in this matter.

V. APPELLANTS' CAUSES OF ACTION ARE NOT BARRED BY LACHES.

Respondents allege Appellants' claims should be barred by the equitable defense of laches (R. p. 81). Laches is neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done. Mid-State Trust, II v. Wright, 323 S.C. 303, 474 S.E.2d 421 (1996). See also Provident Life and Accident Ins. Co. v. Driver, 317 S.C. 471, 451 S.E.2d 924 (Ct.App.1994.) Under the doctrine of laches, if a party, knowing his rights, does not timely assert them, but by unreasonable delay causes his adversary to incur expenses or otherwise detrimentally change his position, then equity will ordinarily refuse to enforce these rights. Id. Importantly, delay in the assertion of a right does not, in and of itself, constitute laches. Mid-State Trust, supra. Rather, so long as there is no knowledge of the wrong committed and no refusal to embrace opportunity to ascertain

facts, there can be no laches. Id.; Archambault v. Sprouse, 218 S.C. 500, 63 S.E.2d 459 (1951).

The failure to assert a right does not come into existence until there is a reason or situation that demands assertion. Mid-State Trust, supra. The party asserting laches must satisfactorily show negligence, the opportunity to have acted sooner, and material prejudice. Provident Life and Accident, supra. See also Mid-State, supra (party asserting laches must show it has been materially prejudiced by other party's delay). The burden of proof is upon the person claiming laches. Provident Life and Accident, supra. Finally, whether laches applies in a particular situation is highly fact-specific, so each case must be judged on its own merits. Mid-State, supra.

The defense of laches fails because there has been no reliance on non-assertion by the Respondents. Respondents have repeatedly (and incorrectly) stated Gordon Louis Jackson could not inherit from his father's estate in 1982 because he was an illegitimate child. Respondents cannot rely on the non-assertion of a right by the Appellants that they do not believe exists.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should reverse the judgment of the Circuit Court.