RECEIVED

Apr 15 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-CP-28-00123
Appellate Case No. 2025-001848

Mary Dow Jackson, Individually, and as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Gordon Louis Jackson, Melissa Jackson, Tyre Jackson,
Reginald Allen, Bryant Allen, Andre Allen, and Timothy Johnson, Appellants,

v.

The Estate of Claude E. Campbell, by and through Sonja Campbell
Parker and Barry Campbell, Thomas Clayter Campbell, Jr. as Personal
Representative and Trustee for the Estate and Testamentary Trust of

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

Those admissions by Appellant Mary Dow Jackson are dispositive. If Respondents did not engage in fraud, concealment, or other wrongful conduct there is no legal or equitable basis to support the imposition of constructive trust.

This is not a case involving disputed evidence of wrongdoing; it is a case in which the Appellants’ own witness – the personal representative of Gordon Louis Jackson’s estate – admits the absence of such evidence altogether.

Appellants attempt to excuse this evidentiary failure by pointing to the fact that none of the Respondents were deposed and by asserting that discovery was ongoing. (Appellants’ Brief, p. 5). However, that argument fails for the same reasons explained above. Appellants were expressly warned months before the summary judgment hearing that Respondents intended to seek summary judgment and were advised to take any depositions, they believed necessary. They did not do so. Nor did they file a Rule 56(f) affidavit. Even now, Appellants do not identify what evidence of fraud or wrongful conduct additional depositions would produce.

The Circuit Court applied the correct legal standard and properly granted summary judgment. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Appellants, the court found no evidence of fraud, abuse of confidence, or fiduciary relationship – requirements essential to the

³ In her deposition, Mary Dow Jackson did testify that she believes Claude Campbell may have known of the alleged paternity. (R. p. 115, line 23 – p. 119, line 16). However, this was only because he was polite and courteous to her during their interactions. (*Id.*). She admitted that she has no other basis for that belief and no knowledge that Claude Campbell ever acknowledged, discussed, or acted upon any alleged paternity. (*Id.*).

imposition of a constructive trust. That conclusion required no credibility determination or weighing of evidence. It followed directly from Appellants' failure to allege or prove the conduct necessary to invoke this equitable remedy.

Therefore, because Appellants failed to produce evidence of fraud or other wrongful conduct by Respondents, their constructive trust claim fails as a matter of law and the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment on this claim should be affirmed.

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANTS' DECLARATORY JUDGMENT CLAIM BECAUSE OF MOOTNESS AND LACK OF JUSTICIABILITY.

The Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment on Appellants' declaratory judgment claim because the claim failed to implicate a present, justiciable controversy within the court's jurisdiction. The court did not, as Appellants assert, grant summary judgment solely as a derivative consequence of dismissing Appellants' other causes of action. (Appellants' Brief, p. 6); (R. p. 7). While the court recognized that Appellants' claim was moot because their claims of unjust enrichment and constructive trust failed, the court further recognized the lack of a justiciable controversy because there would be no available relief that could alter the legal rights of the parties because the estate at issue has long been closed. (R. p. 7). Both grounds – the failure of Appellant's claims and the estate closure – support dismissal.

Declaratory judgment is available only where a declaration will have a practical legal effect on the parties' existing rights. *West v. West*, 263 S.C. 146, 149-50, 208 S.E.2d 530, 532-33 (1974); *Tourism Expenditure Review Comm. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 403 S.C. 76, 81, 742 S.E.2d 371, 374 (2013). Where a declaration would resolve a live controversy or would not alter the legal relationship of the parties, the claim is moot. *Sloan v. Friends of the Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 25-26, 630 S.E.2d 474, 477 (2006).

In this case, Appellants' declaratory judgment claim depended entirely on the existence of viable substantive claims that could give rise to a present dispute over rights or property. Once the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment on Appellants' unjust enrichment and constructive trust claim, no such dispute remained. Indeed, after dismissal of those claims, there was nothing left for a declaratory judgment to "declare." Appellants did not identify any existing ownership dispute, ongoing legal relationship, or present denial of rights that could be resolved through declaratory relief. Any declaration issued at that point would have no operative effect and would not have altered the parties' existing legal rights or obligations. The Circuit Court therefore concluded that the declaratory judgment claim was moot.

Even apart from mootness, Appellants' declaratory judgment claim failed from the outset for lack of justiciability. The Declaratory Judgments Act does not create jurisdiction and does not authorize courts to issue advisory opinions or to resolve hypothetical disputes contingent on future events. *Tourism Expenditure*, 403 S.C. at 81-82, 742 S.E.2d at 374. A declaratory judgment action must present a real and substantial controversy involving existing legal rights – otherwise, any declaration would amount to nothing more than an impermissible advisory opinion. *Sunset Cay, LLC v. City of Folly Beach*, 357 S.C. 414, 423, 593 S.E.2d 462, 466 (2004).

Here, the declaration Appellants sought would not have altered title, possession, or any existing legal right, regardless of the disposition of other claims. Appellants did not already possess heirship rights, ownership interests, or other legally cognizable rights that required clarification.

Appellants rely on *Pinckney v. Warren*, to argue that while the estate at issue is long closed, the passage of time and the closure of an estate do not, standing alone, defeat justiciability. 344 S.C. 382, 544 S.E.2d 620 (2001); (Appellants' Brief, pp. 6-7). That framing of *Pinckney* improperly conflates the age of underlying events with the existence of a justiciable controversy.

In *Pinckney*, the declaratory judgment action was justiciable because competing parties asserted *present* ownership interest in real property, requiring the Court to determine marketable title. *Pinckney*, 344 S.C. at 386-87, 544 S.E.2d at 622-23. The controversy in *Pinckney* did not arise merely from a decades-old inheritance, but from a live dispute over whether a recorded conveyance conveyed any interest at all. (*Id.*). Here, by contrast, Appellants identify no comparable present dispute affecting title or ownership.

The Circuit Court properly recognized the defects in Appellants' claim. By concluding that Appellants' declaratory judgment was moot and non-justiciable, the Court correctly declined to enter an advisory opinion on contingent matters not ripe for adjudication. (R. p. 7).

Therefore, because Appellants' declaratory judgment claim became moot once their substantive claims failed, and independently, failed to implicate a present, justiciable controversy capable of resolution through declaratory relief, the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment on that claim and the Order should be affirmed.

V. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S APPLICATION OF THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES WAS APPROPRIATE WHERE APPELLANTS KNOWINGLY TOOK NO ACTION IN RESPONSE TO THE PERCEIVED WRONG UNDERLYING THIS CASE FOR MORE THAN FORTY YEARS AND WHERE RESPONDENTS WOULD BE PREJUDICED BY UNWINDING THE INTESTATE ESTATE AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE WHICH DISCHARGED IN 1984.

This case presents a textbook application of laches. Laches bars relief where a party, despite knowledge or opportunity for knowledge, unreasonably delays in asserting a claim and that delay results in prejudice to the opposing party. *Eldridge v. Eldridge*, 398 S.C. 113, 121-22, 728 S.E.2d 24, 28 (2012). Although delay alone is not sufficient, South Carolina courts consistently hold that extraordinary, unexplained delay – combined with knowledge, opportunity, and resulting prejudice – warrants dismissal as a matter of law. *Whitehead v. State*, 352 S.C. 215, 219-20, 574

S.E.2d 200, 202 (2002); *Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 388 S.C. 645, 654, 698 S.E.2d 229, 236 (2010).

The length of delay here is undisputed. T.E. Campbell died in 1982. His estate was administered and closed in 1984. (R. pp. 171-177). Gordon Louis Jackson knew of T.E. Campbell's death shortly after it occurred and knew, or at a minimum readily could have learned, that he received nothing from the estate despite alleged paternity. (R. p. 128, lines 1-10; p. 113, lines 4-22). Yet during his lifetime, Gordon Louis Jackson took no action to investigate the estate, seek legal advice, assert a claim, or challenge the administration of the estate in any way. (R. p. 113, lines 4-22); (R. p. 130, lines 1-6). The record contains no evidence that he inquired into his rights, consulted counsel, or even discussed pursuing a claim in the decades following the estate's closure.

That prolonged inaction continued even after Gordon Louis Jackson's death. Appellant Mary Dow Jackson, his widow, admitted in her deposition that no action was taken for years after her husband's death, despite her claimed awareness of the alleged paternity. (R. p. 130, lines 7-12, 16-19); (R. p. 104, line 17 – p. 105, line 12). She confirmed that neither she nor Gordon Louis Jackson discussed taking action, that Gordon Louis Jackson never sought to be included in the estate during his lifetime, and that the family knew how to contact lawyers and had the ability to do so. (R. p. 113, lines 4-22); (R. p. 130, lines 1-6); (R. p. 110, lines 13-19). Indeed, the record does not reflect a claim that was investigated and deferred for legitimate reasons; it reflects complete and prolonged inaction spanning four decades before this lawsuit was ultimately filed.

Appellants attempt to excuse this delay by asserting that they believed T.E. Campbell had executed a will and that the family decided to pursue litigation only after learning in 2022 that no will existed. (R. pp. 61-63); (R. pp. 58-60); (R. pp. 55-57); (R. pp. 52-54). However, that

explanation does not defeat laches. A party's decision to delay asserting a known claim based on assumptions, inattention, or a later change in strategy is not a legally cognizable justification. *See Robinson*, 388 S.C. at 655, 698 S.E.2d at 236 (finding delay unreasonable despite petitioners' affidavits explaining delay because petitioners had the opportunity for knowledge of the potential claim for nearly four decades). Equity requires diligence, not eventual willingness to sue. *Id.* The undisputed record establishes that Appellants knew of the circumstances giving rise to a potential claim (alleged paternity and exclusion), had decades of opportunity to investigate or act, and chose not to do so.

Not only is there unexplained and unreasonable delay but re-opening the estate at issue would result in prejudice against the Respondents. Prejudice arises in a variety of circumstances depending on the facts of a given case. *See Robinson*, 388 S.C. at 655, 698 S.E.2d at 236 (finding prejudice where defendant purchased the lot at issue for "significant consideration" and had held it for nearly a decade); *see also Richey v. Dickinson*, 359 S.C. 609, 613, 598 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2004) (finding prejudice where files no longer existed, depositions could no longer be taken, and the passage of time affected the ability to establish material facts).

In this case, the prejudice is clear. The Campbell estate was administered and closed more than forty years ago. Property interests vested by operation of law, titles settled, and Respondents and their predecessors ordered their affairs on the settled understanding that the estate proceedings were final. Reopening the estate now would require unwinding transactions and expectations formed over generations – resulting in precisely the inequity laches exists to prevent. Indeed, the facts of this case are comparable to the facts in *Robinson*, where the Supreme Court affirmed summary judgment on laches where the claimants waited nearly forty years to challenge a recorded quiet-title judgment. 388 S.C. at 655, 698 S.E.2d at 236. The Court emphasized that such

extraordinary delay, coupled with the passage of time and the inequity of disturbing long-settled property rights rendered the claim barred as a matter of law. *Id.* The same principles apply here.

Nevertheless, Appellants attempt to salvage their claims by asserting that laches is unavailable because Respondents have consistently maintained that Gordon Louis Jackson could not inherit in 1982. (Appellants' Brief, p. 8). That contention is incorrect. There is no legal basis requiring a defendant were to accept the legal merits of a plaintiff's asserted right to invoke laches. The relevant inquiry is whether Appellants knew of the circumstances giving rise to a potential claim, had ample opportunity to act, and nonetheless delayed for decades to the prejudice of Respondents. They did.

The Circuit Court properly applied the settled law to the undisputed record before it. The court recognized that Appellants waited more than forty years to assert any claim related to the Campbell estate, despite knowledge and opportunity to act, and that re-opening a long-closed estate would be fundamentally inequitable. (R. pp. 7-8). Under these circumstances, the court properly found that laches operates as an independent legal bar to relief. (*Id.*).

VI. ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS

An appellate court may affirm a lower court's judgment on any ground appearing in the record, regardless of whether the ground was relied upon by the trial court. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000). Where a judgment is supported by multiple independent grounds, affirmance is proper so long as at least one ground remains unchallenged or legally sufficient. *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012).

In addition to the grounds addressed above, the Circuit Court's judgment may be affirmed on several alternative bases that are raised below and are supported by the undisputed record. Each

of the additional sustaining grounds set forth herein independently supports the judgment and provides a sufficient basis for affirmance, regardless of the Court's disposition of the primary issues on appeal.

A. Appellants waived their prematurity argument by failing to comply with Rule 56(f).

Rule 56(f), SCRPC provides the mechanism by which a party opposing summary judgment may seek additional time for discovery on the ground that material facts are unavailable. *Guinan v. Tenet Healthsystems of Hilton Head, Inc*, 383 S.C. 48, 54-55, 677 S.E.2d 32, 36 (Ct. App. 2009); *Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *John Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 316, 321, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (2001)). To invoke that protection, the nonmoving party must submit an affidavit identifying the specific discovery sought, explaining why it is unavailable despite diligence, and demonstrating how additional discovery would create a genuine issue of material fact. *Guinan*, 383 S.C. at 54-55, 677 S.E.2d at 36; *Schmidt*, 357 S.C. at 322; *Covil Corp. v. Pa. Nat'l Mut. Cas. Ins. Co.*, 436 S.C. 85, 91-92, 870 S.E.2d 191, 194-95 (Ct. App. 2022). Thus, a party may not defeat summary judgment by asserting in general terms that discovery is incomplete.

Here, Appellants did not file a Rule 56(f) affidavit. They did not identify any specific discovery that was unavailable to them, did not explain why such discovery could not have been obtained prior to the summary judgment hearing, and did not articulate how any additional discovery would have supplied evidence material to the elements of their claims. Instead, Appellants relied on generalized assertions that depositions had not yet been taken and that further discovery might prove helpful. Rule 56 does not permit postponement of summary judgment on that basis.

The record further reflects that Appellants were expressly warned months in advance that Respondents intended to move for summary judgment and were invited to complete any discovery they believed necessary before the motion was heard. (R. p. 273). Despite that notice and opportunity, Appellants neither pursued the discovery they now claim was essential nor sought relief under Rule 56(f). It is improper for Appellants to rely on their own failure to pursue discovery or to comply with Rule 56(f) as a basis for claiming that summary judgment was premature.

Accordingly, independent of whether additional discovery could ever have affected the merits, Appellants waived their prematurity argument by failing to comply with Rule 56(f). That waiver provides an additional sustaining ground supporting affirmance of the Circuit Court's judgment.

B. Appellants' claims are independently barred by their failure to satisfy the *Mitchell v. Hardwick* factors.

Even if Appellants could establish Gordon Louis Jackson's paternity, their claims should be independently barred by their failure to satisfy the factors required for retroactive application of inheritance rights under *Mitchell v. Hardwick*, 297 S.C. 48, 374 S.E.2d 681, 683 (1988). In *Mitchell*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that retroactive application of post-*Trimble* inheritance principles is permitted only in limited circumstances where all three of the following conditions are met: (1) innocent persons will not be adversely affected due to their detrimental reliance on the prior law; (2) paternity was conclusively established before the father's death by court order or by an instrument signed by the father acknowledging paternity; and (3) the estate administration remains subject to further resolution. *Mitchell*, 297 S.C. 48, 51, 374 S.E.2d 681, 683 (1988); see *Trimble v. Gordon*, 430 U.S. 762, 97 S.Ct. 1459, 52 L.Ed. 2d 31 (1977).

The undisputed record establishes that none of these conditions are satisfied here. First, reopening an intestate estate that was administered and closed in 1984 would necessarily prejudice

generations of innocent heirs who relied on the finality of probate proceedings and whose property interests vested by operation of law decades ago. Second, there is no evidence – nor any allegation – of a pre-death adjudication of paternity or of an instrument signed by T.E. Campbell acknowledging paternity. Third, the estate at issue has long since been fully administered and discharged and is not subject to further resolution.

Failure to satisfy all of the *Mitchell* factors should be dispositive, and here, Appellants failed to satisfy any of the three.

Appellants argue that because this claim involves an estate that came after *Trimble*, but before *Wilson v. Jones* they do not have to establish the *Mitchell* factors. (R. p. 45); citing, *Wilson v. Jones*, 281 S.C. 230, 314 S.E.2d 341 (1984); see also, *Trimble*, 430 U.S. 762 (1977); *Mitchell*, 374 S.E.2d 681 (1988). Their argument relies on the fact that *Mitchell v. Hardwick* concerned an estate arising before *Trimble* and allowed for limited *retroactive* application of *Trimble*. They claim this estate is not similarly burdened by the *Mitchell* factors because it was opened in 1982.

This argument fosters an absurd result. Under Appellants' asserted state of the law, all intestate estates opened between 1977-1984 are presumably vulnerable, indefinitely, to challenges by illegitimate paternal heirs who claim they were wrongfully excluded since-closed estates. No South Carolina appellate court has been presented with this bizarre scenario. As a matter of first impression, logic supports applying the *Mitchell* factors which would rightly bar this unusual action

Accordingly, even assuming *arguendo* that Appellants could establish paternity through additional evidence, *Mitchell v. Hardwick* should serve as an independent bar to their claims as a matter of law.

C. The Circuit Court's judgment may also be affirmed because the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

The Circuit Court's judgment may also be affirmed because the claims asserted in this action fall within the exclusive original jurisdiction of the Probate Court. *Neely v. Thomasson*, 365 S.C. 345, 350, 618 S.E.2d 884, 887 (2005). Under South Carolina law, probate courts have exclusive jurisdiction over matters relating to the administration of decedents' estate, including the determination of heirs and successors for purposes of intestate succession. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-1-302, 62-1-201(17). Where an action turns on the identification of heirs and entitlement to estate property, subject matter jurisdiction lies exclusively with the Probate Court, not the Circuit Court.

Although Appellants styled their claims as causes of action for unjust enrichment, constructive trust, and declaratory judgment, the substance of their lawsuit seeks a judicial determination that Gordon Louis Jackson was a lawful heir of T.E. Campbell and therefore entitled to a share of the Campbell estate. At its core, this action concerns a matter that falls squarely within the Probate Court's exclusive jurisdiction.

The record reflects that T.E. Campbell's estate was administered and closed in 1984. Appellants did not seek determination of heirship during probate and did not pursue relief in the Probate Court thereafter. Instead, they initiated this action in Circuit Court more than forty years later, seeking to litigate heirship and inheritance directly through equitable and declaratory theories. South Carolina law does not permit parties to circumvent probate jurisdiction by recasting heirship disputes as civil claims.

Because the relief Appellants seek depends upon matters within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Probate Court, the Circuit Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate the claims asserted in this case. Lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time and provides an

independent basis to affirm dismissal of Appellants' claims. Accordingly, the judgment may be affirmed on this additional sustaining ground appearing in the record.